OA 4-6-93

**FILE**I SID J. WHITE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA OCT 28 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

CASE #: 79,973

ΛΛ. Deputy Clerk



CHARLES MILLS,

ORIGENAL

VS

Petitioner,

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

[Jurisdiction Granted to Review a Decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal Announcing Conflict With Another District Court of Appeal Rendered in Petitioner's Direct Appeal From an Adverse Jury Verdict in the Felony Circuit Court for the 17th Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida]

# PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KAYO E. MORGAN Attorney at Law 432 N.E. 3rd Avenue Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 (305) 523-5296

Attorney for Petitioner Bar #: 444677

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner is Appellant below, and was Defendant in the trial court. He shall be referred to as 'Petitioner', 'Appellant', or 'Defendant'.

Respondent is Appellee below, and the state in the trial court. It shall be referred to as 'Appellee' or 'state', or 'prosecution'.

Petitioner's Initial Brief on Appeal filed in the District Court below is attached hereto as Appendix 'A'. Reference to it shall be made as follows: (Appx. 'A', p 1), or by express reference.

The original record in the appeal below shall be referred to as follows: (R. 1).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was tried upon a felony information sounding in two counts, to wit: Trafficking in cocaine and conspiracy to so traffick (R. 419-421).

From adverse jury verdicts in the Circuit Court for the 17th Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida, Petitioner appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal (R. 425). The district court affirmed as to all issues raised, but rendered a written opinion positing conflict with another district court of appeal as to one of the points argued. MILLS v STATE, 596 So2d 1148 (4DCA 1992).

On or about 31 May 1992 Petitioner served and filed in the district court his 'Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction' of this Court.

On or about 9 June 1992 Petitioner served and filed in this Court his 'Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief'.

By order dated 30 September 1992 this Court accepted jurisdiction, scheduled oral argument, and directed that the instant brief on the merits be served by 26 October 1992.

Petitioner in his initial brief filed in the district court set forth a detailed statement of facts (pages 1-15), and has for the Court's convenience attached that brief in its entirety as an appendix to the instant brief. [Appendix 'A', attached hereto]. An abbreviated version follows.

FACTS

Petitioner in April/May of 1988 was approached by a former acquaintance named 'Tom' (R. 238). [Tom did not testify at the trial]. Petitioner was not involved nor thought to be involved in any criminal actions at that time, particularly respecting drugs or drug use (R. 93, 101, 129, 239-242, 265). However, Tom began to entice Petitioner with the prospect of 'easy money' with no risk, if Petitioner would merely introduce "a friend" of Tom's to someone with cocaine (R. 239-40, 243). Petitioner kept putting Tom off, Tom persistently prevailing upon him to do it (R. 239-240). Eventually Tom was able to get Petitioner to go with him and meet Tom's 'friend' at a local Burger King Restaurant in May (R. 240-242). The 'friend' turned out to be an undercover cop named Dan Losey (hereinafter 'Losey') (R. 21-23, 80-82, 96). Tom was Losey's paid 'informant' and was working for Losey as a police operative (R. 21-22, 80-86, 96, 133-135).

Present at the Burger King introduction were only Tom, Losey, and Petitioner (R. 95, 109, 115). Alleged discussions were had along the lines indicated earlier by Tom, Tom assuring Petitioner that all he had to do was 'find someone with cocaine' (R. 22-23, 89, 93, 95, 102-103, 241-242). No deal was struck however (R. 102, 105, 110). Between that May meeting and 15

August 1988 Petitioner was called or encountered practically everyday by at least 'Tom' urging him to find someone so they could make some money (R. 243-244). Petitioner kept putting him off, and had actually not pursued finding anyone for such a transaction (R. 244). However, on about 12 August Petitioner in the course of a conversation with a friend named Rouse mentioned the money-making prospect as advanced by Tom when Rouse alluded to needing money (R. 245-246). Rouse professed an interest therein, and Petitioner mentioned this to Tom when Tom next called (R. 247). On 16 August a meeting was arranged for Petitioner to introduce Rouse to Losey (R. 140, 250). Losey then told Rouse about the 'easy money' scheme (R. 250), Rouse at one point making a phone call to someone not known to Petitioner (R. Rouse then contacted one Perkins and Perkins eventually 251). produced the cocaine which predicated the arrest and charges (R. 53-55). Petitioner at all times believed he was operating only on behalf of and for Losey and Tom (viz the police) to find for them a seller/source of cocaine (R. 249, 253-254, 257).

×

Further record facts shall be referred to in the course of arguments hereinafter as pertinent.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

<u>POINT\_ONE</u>: The district court of appeal in its opinion below construes this Court's opinions to announce abandonment of the per se reversible error rule where a trial court excludes the accused (and his/her counsel) participating in the formation of the appropriate response to a jury question on a matter of law posed during the deliberation process. However, this Court has rather reaffirmed in that context the per se reversible error rule, and the motivations originating that posture remain as pertinent today. The district court erred applying 'harmless error' analysis to the violation of Rule 3.410 sub judice.

<u>POINT TWO</u>: The district erred respecting the merit of the sua sponte re-instruction given by the trial court. That charge was not responsive to the actual question posed by the jury; that is, as to applicable "law". In the circumstances of this case "the law" vitally involved 'entrapment' principles, inter alia.

<u>POINT THREE</u>: The district court affirmed without discussion the trial court's denial of Petitioner's motions for judgment of acquittal based on both objective and subjective entrapment. The record however is clear that in accord with the announcements of this Court and four of the other district courts of appeal the facts of Petitioner's case establishe objective entrapment as a matter of law. No criminal activity was ongoing when a police agent persuaded Petitioner to solicit drug sources. The police created any crime committed in this case, not Petitioner.

<u>POINT FOUR</u>: Cumulative other errors were affirmed without discussion by the district court, contrary to controlling law.

#### POINT ONE AND ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED EXCEPTING THE VIOLATION BY THE TRIAL COURT OF FL.R.CR.PR. 3.410 FROM THE PER SE REVERSIBLE ERROR RULE ANNOUNCED BY THIS COURT IN IVORY V STATE

Petitioner argued this issue at the Point One on Appeal in his initial brief. [Appx. 'A', p 19-22].

Rule 3.410, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, governs 'Jury Request to Review Evidence or for Additional Instructions' and provides:

> After the jurors have retired to consider their verdict, if they request additional instructions or to have any testimony read to them they shall be conducted into the courtroom \* \* \* and the court may give them such additional instructions or may order such testimony read to them. Such instructions shall be given and such testimony read only after notice to the prosecuting attorney and to counsel for the defendant.

In the trial of this cause the jury retired to deliberate (R. 404) and after a recess the parties were summoned back to court. The following colloquy occurred between the judge and defense counsel ('Mr. Morgan'):

THE COURT: All right. Bring in the jury. They have a question.

MR. MORGAN: Should we know what the question is so we can talk about it?

THE COURT: We don't need to talk about it. I will show you in just a minute, Kayo.

(R. 407). The jury was conducted into the courtroom and the trial judge announced as follows:

THE COURT: Have a seat, please. Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, I have your question:

Judge Coker, could you please clarify or provide a copy of the law on armed trafficking. Unfortunately, I can do neither of those.

(R. 407). The judge did not stop there, but continued with that "However, what I can do is to reread you the law that I read you a few moments ago" (R. 407-408). The judge then, of the law originally read (R. 382-399, 403-404), reread <u>only</u> that portion respecting the "elements" of armed trafficking in cocaine, the definition of "delivery", and the respective quantity levels of cocaine (R. 384-386, 408-409). Asked by the judge if that answered its question, the jury responded "Yes" (R. 409). The jury retired to continue its deliberations. The following colloquy then occurred between the judge and defense counsel:

.

.

MR. MORGAN: Judge, show my objection. We didn't get a chance to discuss that.

THE COURT: Well, what's your objection?

MR. MORGAN: I'd like to have entrapment read to them. It's not an offense to traffic if he was entrapped.

THE COURT: I responded to their question exactly as they requested that I respond and your objection is noted.

(R. 409-410). Shortly thereafter the jury returned with a verdict of quilty on both counts (R. 410-411).

Petitioner argued this objection for reversal on appeal at Point One in his initial brief. In its opinion affirming the trial judge's ruling the Fourth District Court of Appeal wrote,

> We acknowledge that defense counsel's right to be present at reinstruction of the jury includes the right to participate, to place objections on the record, and to make full argument as to the reasons the jury's request should or should not be honored. <u>Ivory v State</u>, 351 So.2d 26, 28 (Fla. 1977). However, <u>although the trial judge violated</u>

# the rule when he failed to give defense counsel the opportunity to be heard, we find such error to be harmless.

MILLS V STATE, 596 So.2d 1148, 1149 (4DCA 1992), (emphasis supplied). The district court distinguished three of this Court's cases "that hold per se reversible error occurs when a trial judge fails to notice defense counsel or the defendant of a jury question" [BRADLEY  $\vee$  STATE, 513 So.2d 112 (Fla. 1987): CURTIS V STATE, 480 So.2d 1277 (Fla. 1985); and IVORY V STATE, 351 So.2d 26 (Fla. 1977)] on the basis that "[i]n this case, the trial judge notified defense counsel and the defendant that the jury had a question". 596 So.2d at 1149. The district court then invoked WILLIAMS v STATE, 488 So.2d 63, 64 (Fla. 1986), for the construction that "[c]ommunications outside the express notice requirements of rule 3.410 should be analyzed using harmless error principles". 596 So.2d at 1149. It then cited CHERRY V STATE, 572 So.2d 521, 522 (1DCA 1990), which "found reversible error because defense counsel did not have 'notice and an opportunity to be heard regarding the appropriate response' to a jury question". 596 So.2d at 1149. The district court continued to reason, however, that because the First District in CHERRY relied for its conclusion on this Court's decision in CURTIS v STATE, supra, and that CURTIS pre-dated this Court's decision in DIGUILIO v STATE, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986),

> Therefore, in direct conflict with <u>Cherry</u>, we hold that the harmless error rule applies where defense counsel and the defendant have notice of a jury question but the trial judge fails to give defense counsel the opportunity to be heard as to the appropriate response.

596 So.2d at 1150. Apparently the district court reads DIGUILIO's 'harmless error' rule to represent this Court's abandonment of the 'per se error' rule in the context of jury reinstruction "reaffirmed" in CURTIS. Thus did the district court conclude as aforesaid that "although the trial judge violated the <u>rule when he failed to give defense counsel the opportunity to be</u> <u>heard, we find such error to be harmless</u>". Petitioner submits the district court erred in so concluding.

This Court in IVORY v STATE, 351 So.2d 26 (Fla. 1977), decreed, respecting enforcement of compliance with Fl.R.Cr.Pr. 3.410: "We now hold that it is prejudicial error for a trial judge to respond to a request from the jury without \* \* \* defendant's counsel being present and having the opportunity to participate in the discussion of the action to be taken on the jury's request [which] right to participate includes the right to place objections on record as well as the right to make full argument as to the reasons the jury's request should or should not be honored". 351 So.2d at 28 (emphasis supplied). In CURTIS V STATE, supra, this Court was confronted with a district court's attempt "to avoid the per se rule of Ivory by distinguishing the facts". 480 So.2d at 1277, fn 1. The Court "explained the reason for strict compliance with rule 3.410 [is to] afford counsel an opportunity to perform their respective functions ſsuch as] advise the court, object, request additional instructions \* \* \*, and otherwise fully participate in this facet of the proceeding". 480 So.2d at 1278. Of paramount import, recognized in CURTIS is that "the state and defendant have been

deprived of the <u>right to discuss the action to be taken</u>, including the right to make full argument". At 1279 (emphasis supplied). Thus the Court "reaffirm[ed] the viability of <u>Ivory</u>" and the rejection of a 'prejudice rule' in the context of Rule 3.410 compliance. Again in WILLIAMS v STATE, supra, the "holding that violation of rule 3.410 is per se reversible error", 488 So.2d at 64, was reaffirmed but limited to the "express notice requirements", <u>id</u>, of that rule. This Court in ROBERTS v STATE, 510 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1987), applied the latter limitation and held that a "request for a view", 510 So.2d at 891, was <u>not</u> "a request by the jury for 'additional instructions or to have any testimony read to them' within the terms of rule 3.410 [, wherefore the] per se reversible error rule set forth in <u>Ivory</u> [did not] appl[y]". <u>Id</u>. This latter case came after DIGUILIO v STATE, supra, was decided.

In BRADLEY v STATE, 513 So.2d 112 (Fla. 1987), also decided <u>after</u> DIGUILID, this Court considered a jury's request during its deliberations to "read the original police report" and the judge's response that it could not because the report was not in evidence (at p 112) to be "a communication \* \* \* covered by Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.410". At p 113. Because the record did not reflect that "notice of the jury's inquiry was given to the [parties'] counsels prior to the trial judge's response" (at p 112) this Court <u>held</u> "that <u>Ivory</u> and <u>Curtis</u> mandate reversal". At p 113. BRADLEY thus clearly reaffirms the per se reversible error rule in this sensitive context when defense counsel is present but is deprived of "the opportunity to

participate in the discussion of the <u>action to be taken</u> on the jury's request". At p 112, quoting IVORY (emphasis supplied). And as is also apparent, this Court in BRADLEY reaffirmed CURTIS that "[t]he right to participate \* \* \* includes the right to place objections on the record as well as the right to make full argument as to why the jury request should or should not be honored [and n]otice is not dispositive[, as t]he failure to respond in open court is alone sufficient to find error". At 114.

4

This Court in HILDWIN v STATE, 531 So2d 124 (Fla. 1988), found 'harmless error' where the judge sent a note into the jury room to answer its question during deliberations rather than bringing the jury back into court. However, in doing so it distinguished the "circumstances" therein from those in IVORY, supra, and CURTIS, supra, because in the latter cases "both counsel were notified and given the opportunity to make their positions known to the judge" and "both counsel concurred with the response" proposed and made by the judge. At 127. Thus again this Court reaffirmed both the IVORY and CURTIS decisions to be controlling law.

The per se reversible error rule in the context of Rule 3.410 violations was again reaffirmed in COLBERT v STATE, 569 So2d 433 (Fla. 1990). In COLBERT the jury announced it was deadlocked as to some of multiple counts, and asked for testimony to be read back. The jury was advised in the latter respect that a read-back was not possible until the following Monday, and sent from the courtroom.

After the jury was sent from the courtroom again, the judge informed counsel that she was inclined to have the jury return the verdicts it had reached and declare a mistrial as to any remaining counts.

569 So2d at 433 (emphasis supplied). The judge overruled defense counsel's objections "and informed counsel" she was taking the action indicated. At p 433-434. The jury was brought into court and informed of that intention of the court but that the jury could in the circumstances made known to it (including respecting Monday) the reading back of testimony on continue its Defense counsel objected to the latter "option" deliberations. being given because not so advised beforehand. At 434. The jury shortly came back guilty on all counts, and defense counsel declined having the jury polled as to the counts which had been decided and those undecided prior to the last charge. This Court concluded that a 'per se prejudical error' situation was not implicated, saying:

> Such a situation was clearly not present in this The prospective jury instructions were case. extensively discussed with counsel. Defense counsel fully argued the position that a mistrial on all counts was warranted and objected on the After the jury was given the modified record. instruction, defense counsel properly preserved the issue by objecting on the record. Unlike the above-listed cases [IVORY, BRADLEY, WILLIAMS, and CURTIS], the notice requirement of rule 3.410 was effectively satisfied because counsel had notice, an opportunity to argue, and to object, before and after the instructions were given.

569 So2d at 435 (emphasis supplied). Then the Court applied harmless error principles to the merits of the objection so made, but initially concluding that a modified 'Allen charge' had not been given by the trial court.

Sub judice, Petitioner's counsel had neither notice nor an opportunity to argue and object "before \* \* \* the instructions were given". Id. Counsel (as well as the prosecution) was entirely excluded from knowing what the question was, and the judge fashioned his own response to it. The trial court in its sua sponte response initially told the jury it could neither "clarify or provide a copy of the law" (R. 407) as to the involved trafficking offense. That announcement, of course, was patently wrong in that the court can have provided the jury all of the original instructions in written form [see: Fl.R.Cr.Pr. 3.400(c); ZARATTINI V STATE, 571 So2d 553 (4DCA 1990); SIMMONS V STATE, 541 So2d 171 (4DCA 1989); BYRD v STATE, 582 So2d 640 (3DCA 1991)]; and Rule 3.410 itself provides for the court giving "additional instructions" if the jury requests (compare HENDRICKSON v STATE, 556 So2d 440 (4DCA 1990) that it is fundamental error to preliminarily instruct a jury that it cannot have testimony read back to it during the deliberation process; and BISCARDI v STATE, 511 So2d 575 (4DCA 1987) that it is error to instruct a jury that a court cannot reinstruct on the applicable law). No opportunity to so pursuade the judge to relate to these authorities was accorded counsel when the jury made the request it did. Respecting the request itself, i.e. to "clarify or provide a copy of the law on armed trafficking" (R. 407), no opportunity was given counsel to seek clarification thereof in order to fashion an appropriate response. For instance, of what "law" was the jury seeking clarification or copies? The jury clearly did not ask for merely the 'definition'

or 'elements' of an offense. And, the court had amended and clarified its original instructions just before the jury initially retired to deliberate, to wit:

> THE COURT: Let me elucidate on two things, ladies and gentlemen, which has been discussed up here [at side-bar]. When I read the law with regard to entrapment, I specifically recall that I instructed you that the defense of entrapment was leveled at both counts, being not only the t<u>rafficking,</u> <u>but also the conspiracy</u> to t<u>raffic[k]</u>. I think that I made that clear, but if I didn't, I do now make it clear. I am going to, again, give a little additional

> instruction which the defense has requested and filed an objection to. When I say that a person, when <u>instructing on the law of principals</u>, I explained that person commits no crime if they are merely present when a crime is being committed by another or others, even if that person also knows that a crime is being then and there committed by the other or other persons.

(R. 403-404). Was the jury seeking clarification or a copy of <u>that</u> "law" in the case? The judge assumed it was not, but without counsel's agreement to or acquiescense in such assumption. However, the judge then purported to do something else for the jury when he responded in the manner he did.

The jury was thus told that the "law" would not (or could not) be clarified or copies of it provided, as requested; but a limited re-instruction emphasizing only the elements of the trafficking charge and the definition of 'delivery' was gratuitously given by the court to that jury at a most sensitive stage of Petitioner's trial.

Petitioner submits that the line of authorities promulgated by this Court and cited hereinabove is specifically designed to embrace exactly situations such as developed at the trial below.

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