017

J.A.4-693 FILED

NOV 16 1992

PLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 79,973

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLES MILLS,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM DISTRICT COURT OPINION

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

JOAN FOWLER, Senior Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief West Palm Beach, Florida

GEORGINA JIMENEZ-OROSA

Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar #441510
111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
Telephone: (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I The District Court did not err in applying the harmless error rule under the particular circumstances of this case where the Court complied with the notice requirement of Rule 3.410, Petitioner and his attorney were present when the court reinstructed the jury per their request during deliberations. Petitioner was able to present his objections and request for reinstruction on his entrapment defense.

POINT II The jury question requested "clarification or a copy of the law on armed trafficking." This specific request was not asking for re-reading of the instructions in their entirety. The District Court was correct in finding the trial court properly and completely answered the jury question, without the necessity of reinstructing on the defense of entrapment.

POINT III Petitioner failed to establish any police misconduct that would entitle him to discharge based on entrapment as a matter of law. Otherwise, the State presented substantial evidence to support the jury verdict of guilty as to the trafficking count. Thus, the District Court did not err in affirming the conviction without comment on this issue.

POINT IV Without setting forth complete arguments or facts to support his allegations, Petitioner refers this Court to his brief filed with the District Court as to further allegations of reversible error. All these issues were without merit. The District Court after considering same so found and affirmed the conviction, without comment. This Court should not waste its valuable time in reviewing such non-meritorious issues.

POINT I

THE DISTRICT COURT WAS CORRECT IN AFFIRMING THE CONVICTION UPON THE FINDING THAT THE TRIAL COURT COMPLIED WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF FLA. R. CRIM. P. 3.410 AND ONLY COMMITTED HARMLESS ERROR IN NOT GIVING DEFENSE COUNSEL THE OPPORTUNITY TO BE HEARD BEFORE RESPONDING TO THE JURY QUESTION.

JURISDICTION

This Court accepted conflict jurisdiction over the instant case pursuant to Art. V, §3(b)(4), Fla. Const., on the assumption that the opinion of the Fourth District Court conflicts on the same question of law with Cherry v. State, 572 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). However, a reading of the decision of the District Court makes it abundantly clear that there is no express and direct conflict with Cherry. Cherry involved a situation where defense counsel did not have notice and an opportunity to be heard regarding the appropriate response to a jury question. Thus, Cherry is distinguishable from the case at bar since here counsel was given notice and had the opportunity to preserve the issue by objecting to the reinstruction, and requesting that the instruction on entrapment be read again to the jury.

In order for two court decisions to be in express and direct conflict for the purpose of invoking this Court's discretionary jurisdiction under <u>Fla. R. App. P.</u> 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), the decisions should speak to the same point of law, in factual contexts of sufficient similarity to permit the inference that the result in each case would have been different had the deciding court employed the reasoning of its brother or father

court. <u>See generally</u>, <u>Mancini v. State</u>, 312 So.2d 732 (Fla. 1975). In <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So.2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980), This Court defined the limited parameters of its conflict review as follows:

This Court may only review a decision of district court of appeal expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or the Supreme Court on the same question of law. The dictionary definitions of the terms 'express' include: 'to represent in words; to give expression to.' 'Expressly' is defined: 'in an express manner.' Websters Third New International Dictionary (1961 ed. unabr.)

See also, Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829 (Fla. 1986) see generally, Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1958); Withlacoochee River Electric Co-op v. Tampa Electric Co., 158 So.2d 136 (Fla. 1963). It is not appropriate to allege conflict based on the contents of a dissenting opinion. Jenkins.

A comparison of the facts from the face of the opinion in the instant case and the facts in the <u>Cherry</u> opinion, make it abundantly clear that there is no direct and express conflict. The State submits that this Court should therefore withdraw its order accepting jurisdiction over the case.

ARGUMENT

Should this Court decide to proceed with review of the case, the State responds to Petitioner's allegations as follows. The facts as found by the District Court are as follows:

During jury deliberations, the jury sent a note to the trial judge. The Trial judge notified <u>both counsel</u> that the jury had a question. In the

defense counsel defendant's presence, asked what the question was so that it could be discussed. The trial judge refused to tell defense counsel the question, and told him there was no need to talk about it. The jury was then brought into the courtroom. The trial judge said to the jury, "I have your question, 'Judge Coker, could you please clarify or provide a copy of the law on armed trafficking. " The trial judge told the jury that he could not do that, but would reread to them the instruction on trafficking? The trial court then instructions the on reread trafficking that he had earlier given The trial judge then asked, the jury. "Does that answer your question?" The jury said, "yes" and then retired to continued their deliberations. After the jury left the courtroom, the trial judge and defense counsel engaged in the following colloquy:

MR. MORGAN: Judge, show my objection. We didn't get a chance to discuss that.

THE COURT: Well, what's your objection?

MR. MORGAN: I'd like to have entrapment read to them. It's not an offense to traffic if he was entrapped.

THE COURT: I responded to their question exactly as they requested that I respond and your objection is noted.

[Emphasis added.]

Mills v. State, 596 So. 2d 1148, 1149 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), Exhibit C.

Petitioner now argues that the District Court erred in applying the harmless error rule to the circumstances of this

case, i.e., the trial court did not advise him of the question or gave counsel an opportunity to contribute to the response before reinstructing the jury. The State submits that because Petitioner and his counsel were notified of the jury question, were present during the communication of the court with the jury, and then had the opportunity to preserve the record by voicing his objection to the reinstruction, Petitioner has failed to establish reversible error entitling him to a new trial.

As to Petitioner's allegations that he was "foreclosed [from the] opportunity to assist the court in formulating ... [the] response," it must be kept in mind that feasibility and scope of reinstruction of the jury resides within the discretion of the judge. Hedges v. State, 172 So.2d 824 (Fla. 1965); Henry v. State, 359 So.2d 864 (Fla. 1978); Garcia v. State, 492 So.2d 360, 366 (Fla. 1986). The record at bar is clear that during deliberations, the jury submitted the question to the court, in response, the trial court, in the presence of the Petitioner, defense counsel and the prosecution, recalled the jury and gave a reinstruction without first conferring with the parties. record shows, therefore, that all necessary parties were present pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.410; this complied with the notice requirement of the Rule. See, Hildwin v. State, So.2d 124, 127 (Fla. 1988); Westlund v. State, 570 So.2d 1133 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990).

As pointed out by the District Court, the cases relied upon by Petitioner hold that per se reversible error occurs when

a trial judge fails to notice defense counsel or the defendant of a jury question. Bradley v. State, 513 So.2d 112 (Fla. 1987); Curtis v. State, 480 So.2d 1277 (Fla. 1985); Ivory v. State, 351 So.2d 26 (Fla. 1977); Lacue v. State, 562 So.2d 388 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). A review of all these cases shows situations in which counsel were not present prior to the trial court's responding to the jury request. In those cases, defense counsel were denied the opportunity to argue their positions regarding the jury request, or were not able to place objections on the record after the jury reinstructions were given. Even in Cherry v. State, 572 So.2d 521, 521 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), the case used to obtain conflict jurisdiction sub judice, "the record does not show that counsel was provided notice and an opportunity to participate in the discussion of the action to be taken on the jury's request." Such a situation, which is more akin to the situation in Bradley, is clearly not present in this case.

In the case at bar, the trial court, in the presence of Petitioner and his counsel, reinstructed the jury on the law of armed trafficking as requested by the jury. After the jury was given the reinstruction, and the jury confirmed the judge answered their question to their satisfaction (R. 409), defense counsel properly preserved the issued by requesting that the judge also reinstruct the jury on his theory of defense of entrapment. Unlike the cases cited by Petitioner, the notice requirement of rule 3.410 was effectively satisfied because counsel had notice, an opportunity to argue, and to object,

after the reinstructions were given. <u>Colbert v. State</u>, 569 So.2d 433, 435 (Fla. 1990).

Therefore, the District Court was correct in applying the harmless error rule to the merits of the objection made by defense counsel after the judge responded to the jury question. See, Colbert; Hildwin v. State, 531 So.2d 124, 127 (Fla. 1988); Williams v. State, 488 So.2d 62, 64 (Fla. 1986). Sub judice, as in Colbert, after the jury was given the [re]instruction, defense counsel properly preserved the issue by objecting and suggesting an additional instruction on the record. Thus defense counsel fully argued his position that the jury should also be reinstructed on the defense of entrapment. Thus, unlike the facts in Ivory, Bradley, and Curtis, the notice requirement of rule 3.410 was effectively satisfied because counsel had notice, an opportunity to argue and to object the reinstructions as given. Id. at 435.

As it will be discussed under issue II, Petitioner has failed to show that the trial court abused its discretion in limiting the reinstruction to answer the specific question of the jury. Thus, since under this Court's mandate in Colbert; Hildwin; and Williams, the District Court properly applied the harmless error rule to the facts of this particular case to determine that the trial court did not err in denying Petitioner's request for reinstruction on the entrapment defense, no reversible error has been established <u>sub judice</u>, and the District Court's affirmance of the conviction should be approved by this Court.

In support of his argument, as a side issue, Petitioner alleges that the trial court erred in not providing the jury with "a copy of the law" by submitting the "entire" instruction in writing, or giving defense counsel and opportunity to point out case law on this issue to the judge (PB 16). The State would point out that defense counsel, during his opportunity to state his objections to the reinstruction (R. 409-410), did not request the court to provide the jury with a copy of the "entire instructions in writing." As found by the District Court:

opportunity given the object, defense counsel did not object to the re-instruction that was given. He only objected to the trial judge's failure to also give the entrapment Defense counsel instruction. notice, an opportunity to argue, and to object, both before and after the trial for denied his request instruction on entrapment.

since the court sub judice chose to limit the reinstruction to the specific request of the jury, no error See, Simmons v. State, 541 So.2d 171 (Fla. 4th DCA occurred. 1989), [when reinstructing the jury orally the court may limit the reinstructions so as to answer the specific request of the However, when submitting the written instruction to the jury. jury, the entire written instructions must be delivered to the jury as required by Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.400(c).] Thus, the reinstruction given was not an abuse of discretion since it was oral and limited to the request by the jury. Id. Immediately jury asserted the judge had after the reinstruction, the answered their question (R. 409). Thus, it should not be presummed that the jury wanted to hear the instructions in its

entirety, or that the jury was confused on anything other than "the law on armed trafficking."

Further since Petitioner did not raise these arguments in the trial court, he did not preserve the issue for appellate review, thus, no error has been shown by Petitioner.

POINT II

THE DISTRICT COURT WAS CORRECT IN AFFIRMING THE CONVICTION UPON THE FINDING THAT THE TRIAL COURT'S REINSTRUCTION WAS A CORRECT AND COMPLETE RESPONSE TO THE JURY'S QUESTION.

The question asked by the jury was:

Judge Coker, could you please clarify or provide a copy of the law on armed trafficking.

(R. 407).

Generally, feasibility and scope of reinstruction of the jury resides within the discretion of the judge. Garcia v. State, 492 So.2d 360, 366 (Fla. 1986); Henry v. State, 359 So.2d 864 1978). A trial judge may properly limit the (Fla. repetition of charges to those requested. However, the repeated charges should be complete on the subject involved. Hedges v. State, 172 So.2d 824 (Fla. 1965); Lowe v. State, 500 So.2d 578 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). A review of the facts in this case clearly show that the judge properly answered the question with a correct and complete statement of the law, relative to the jury inquiry. Cf. Garcia.

The jury question simply asked for reinstruction on "the law on armed trafficking." Petitioner strains in asserting that the jury wanted to hear the entirety of the instructions as initially read by the judge. Further, the record is clear that when the judge asked the jury whether his response answered the question, the jury responded "yes" (R. 409). There is no room for speculation that the jury wanted additional instructions, or re-reading of any other portions of the instructions. As

recognized by Petitioner (PB 10), after a "short recess" (R. 410), the jury came back with a verdict of guilty. Therefore, the record does not support Petitioner's speculations that the jury was still confused after the reinstructions, or wanted additional re-instructions.

It is, thus, clear that Petitioner has failed to show abuse of discretion in the trial court's response to the jury's simple request for the "law on armed trafficking" by stating the elements of the offense, without also re-reading the previously given instruction concerning the defense of entrapment. See, Singleton v. State, 512 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). The trial court properly limited its response to the jury's request and denied Petitioner request to re-instruct the jury on entrapment defense. This was not misleading, Gonzalez v. State, 502 So.2d 66 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987).

The cases cited by Petitioner do not hold that the trial court must always reinstruct on the applicable defenses when it reinstructs on the offense charged. The instructions on armed trafficking did not exclude acts performed under "entrapment." The instructions on armed trafficking was therefore complete, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to reinstruct on the entrapment defense. See, Gitman v. State, 482 So.2d 367, 371 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985); Bristow v. State, 338 So.2d 553, 556 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976); Reynolds v. State, 438 So.2d 190 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983).

Petitioner has failed to establish that the District Court erred in finding that the trial judge correctly reinstructed the jury, without reinstructing as to entrapment.

POINT III

THE DISTRICT COURT WAS CORRECT IN AFFIRMING THE CONVICTION SINCE THE RECORD DOES NOT SUPPORT PETITIONER'S ALLEGATIONS THAT THE EVIDENCE ESTABLISHED ENTRAPMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW.

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